

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Toxicology in Vitro 20 (2006) 176-186

Mini-review



Activation of oxazaphosphorines by cytochrome P450: Application to gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy for cancer

Partha Roy ^{a,*}, David J. Waxman ^{b,*}

^a Forest Research Institute, A Division of Forest Laboratories, Inc., Harborside Financial Center, Plaza V, Jersey City, NJ 07311, United States ^b Division of Cell and Molecular Biology, Department of Biology, Boston University, Boston, MA 02215, United States

> Received 1 February 2005; accepted 1 June 2005 Available online 15 November 2005

Abstract

Cancer chemotherapeutic prodrugs, such as the oxazaphosphorines cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide, are metabolized by liver cytochrome P450 enzymes to yield therapeutically active, cytotoxic metabolites. The effective use of these prodrugs is limited by host toxicity associated with the systemic distribution of cytotoxic metabolites formed in the liver. This problem can, in part, be circumvented by implementation of cytochrome P450 gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (P450 GDEPT), a prodrug activation strategy for cancer treatment that augments tumor cell exposure to cytotoxic drug metabolites generated locally by a prodrug-activating cytochrome P450 enzyme. P450 GDEPT has been exemplified in preclinical rodent and human tumor models, where chemosensitivity to a P450 prodrug can be greatly increased by introduction of a prodrug-activating P450 gene. Further enhancement of the efficacy of P450-based gene therapy can be achieved: by co-expression of P450 with the flavoenzyme NADPH-P450 reductase, which provides electrons required for P450 metabolic activity; by metronomic (anti-angiogenic) scheduling of the prodrug; by localized delivery of the prodrug to the tumor; and by combination with anti-apoptotic factors, which slow the death of the P450 'factory' cells and thereby enhance the bystander cytotoxic response. P450 GDEPT has several important features that make it a clinically attractive strategy for cancer treatment. These include: the substantial bystander cytotoxicity of P450 prodrugs such as cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide; the ability to use human P450 genes and thereby avoid an immune response to the therapeutic gene; the use of well-established conventional chemotherapeutic prodrugs, as well as bioreductive drugs activated by P450/P450 reductase in a hypoxic tumor environment; and the potential to decrease systemic exposure to active drug metabolites by selective inhibition of hepatic P450 activity. Recent advances in this area of research are reviewed, and two proof-of-concept clinical trials that highlight the utility of this strategy are discussed. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	177	
2.	Activation of oxazaphosphorines by P450 enzymes	177	
3.	Tumor cell death and the bystander effect.	179	
4.	Strategies to improve P450 GDEPT		
	4.1. NADPH-P450 reductase as an adjuvant for P450 gene therapy	180	
	4.2. Selective inhibition of liver P450-catalyzed prodrug activation.	180	
	4.3. Use of anti-apoptotic factors to delay tumor cell death	180	
5.	Vectors for delivery of prodrug activating P450 genes	181	

* Corresponding authors. *E-mail addresses:* parroy@yahoo.com, partha.roy@frx.com (P. Roy), djw@bu.edu (D.J. Waxman).

^{0887-2333/\$ -} see front matter © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2005.06.046

	5.1. Replication-defective retroviruses	
	5.2. Replication-defective adenoviruses	
	5.3. Conditionally replicating oncolytic viruses	
6.	6. Unique advantages of P450-based GDEPT	
	6.1. Use of human P450 genes	
	6.2. Compatibility with established and investigational ant	i-cancer prodrugs
7.	7. Prodrug delivery	
8.	8. Clinical trials of P450-based GDEPT	
9.	9. Future work	
	Acknowledgements	
	References	

1. Introduction

Many conventional cancer chemotherapeutic drugs have a low therapeutic index due to a lack of specificity toward tumor tissue, coupled with dose-limiting toxicity towards one or more host tissues. Over the past decade, intensive research efforts have been made to overcome these difficulties by developing novel gene therapeutic approaches using tumor suppressor genes, cytokines and lymphokines for immunotherapy, and genes encoding prodrug-activation enzymes (McCormick, 2001). Introduction of a prodrugactivation gene into tumor cells has proven to be an effective way to sensitize tumors towards cytotoxic anti-cancer prodrugs. This gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (GDEPT) makes use of a prodrug-activation enzyme/suicide gene to stimulate in situ bioactivation of prodrugs that are otherwise inactive (Dachs et al., 2005; Aghi et al., 2000; Kirn et al., 2002). Prodrug-activation gene therapy is particularly effective when the activated drug exerts a strong "bystander" cytotoxic effect, whereby the active metabolite is sufficiently lipophilic to diffuse from the site of its formation, i.e., away from the tumor cells that express the prodrug activation gene, and spread throughout the solid tumor mass, thereby amplifying the localized chemotherapeutic response (Denny, 2003). Other gene therapy strategies, such as tumor suppressor gene replacement or oncogene inactivation using antisense methods, are not typically characterized by strong bystander effects, and therefore require gene transfer into a very high fraction of a patient's tumor cells, which is impossible to achieve using current gene delivery technologies or those likely to be developed over the next few years. Many anti-cancer prodrugs have been introduced with the goal of increasing bioavailability or enhancing local drug delivery (Rooseboom et al., 2004), and some of these agents have been investigated for use in GDEPT treatments for cancer. One important class of anti-cancer prodrugs is activated by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes, which constitute a large family of hemeprotein monooxygenases and play a key role in hepatic drug metabolism. P450 enzymes are essential for the activation of several established anticancer prodrugs, most notably the oxazaphosphorines

cyclophosphamide (CPA) and ifosfamide (IFA) (Sladek, 1988), and are particularly effective when incorporated into a suicide gene therapy for cancer treatment (Wei et al., 1994; Chen and Waxman, 1995a). This article reviews recent studies on the development of a prodrug activation gene therapy based on the use of P450 prodrug-activation enzymes. The reader is also referred to several earlier reviews of work in this field (Waxman et al., 1999; Jounaidi, 2002; Chen and Waxman, 2002; Chiocca and Waxman, 2004).

2. Activation of oxazaphosphorines by P450 enzymes

CPA and IFA are isomeric alkylating agents of the oxazaphosphorine class. Both drugs are widely used in combination chemotherapy to treat a variety of neoplasms. CPA and IFA are therapeutically inactive prodrugs; they both undergo metabolic activation catalyzed by specific liver cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes (Clarke and Waxman, 1989), which convert the inactive prodrugs to bioactive, cytotoxic metabolites (Sladek, 1988). Both prodrugs are metabolized by P450 enzymes to yield a 4-hydroxy derivative, which equilibrates with the ring-opened aldophosphamide. This aldehyde, in turn, undergoes chemical decomposition to yield a bifunctional mustard (phosphoramide or ifosphoramide mustard) and acrolein. The mustard generates a highly electrophilic aziridinium species that forms DNA cross-links, proposed to be the key cytotoxic lesion induced in tumors treated with oxazaphosphorines (Sladek, 1988; Fleming, 1997). Alternatively, the 4-hydroxy metabolite can be deactivated by aldehyde dehydrogenase enzymes to yield carboxyphosphamide, a therapeutically inactive metabolite (Sladek, 1999). Tumor cell expression of these oxazaphosphorine-inactivating aldehyde dehydrogenase is an important mechanism of resistance to this class of drugs (Bunting and Townsend, 1996a,b).

Studies with isolated liver microsomes and cDNAexpressed P450 enzymes have established that CPA and IFA are activated by multiple, overlapping subsets of liver P450s. Both oxazaphosphorines are metabolized by constitutive P450 enzymes belonging to the CYP2C subfamily, and by drug-inducible enzymes belonging to P450 subfamilies CYP2B and CYP3A. These P450 metabolic patterns are seen in the rat model (Clarke and Waxman, 1989; Weber and Waxman, 1993) and in humans (Chang et al., 1993). CYP2B1 is the most active catalyst of CPA 4-hydroxylation in rat liver, whereas the corresponding human enzyme, CYP2B6, is the most active CPA 4hydroxylase in human liver. In contrast, human liver IFA 4-hydroxylation is primarily catalyzed by CYP3A enzymes, with minor contributions made by several other CYP enzymes, including CYP2B6 (Roy et al., 1999a). CYP2B6 and CYP3A4 apparently correspond to the high $K_{\rm m}$ components of CPA and IFA 4-hydroxylation, respectively, seen in human liver microsomes (Chang et al., 1993). Several CYP2C enzymes catalyze these reactions with a lower $K_{\rm m}$ than the CYP2B and CYP3A enzymes (Chang et al., 1997; Ren et al., 1997) and may contribute to the low $K_{\rm m}$ oxazaphosphorine 4-hydroxylase activity seen in liver tissue. Certain CYP2B enzymes can also activate CPA and IFA with a low $K_{\rm m}$, as was recently shown for the dog liver enzyme CYP2B11 (Chen et al., 2004). Cytochrome P450 catalyzed metabolic pathways for cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide are shown in Fig. 1.

Although CPA and IFA are chemical isomers, each drug exhibits a unique spectrum of anti-tumor activity, host toxicity and drug resistance. CPA is commonly used in the treatment of breast cancer, endometrial cancer, lung cancer and various leukemias and lymphomas, whereas IFA is often prescribed for treatment of soft tissues sarcomas, testicular cancer, ovarian and breast cancer (Sladek, 1988; Peters et al., 1993; Ayash et al., 1992). IFA has greater activity than CPA in several experimental tumor models, produces less myelosuppression, and exhibits little crossresistance compared to CPA (Goldin, 1982). Some patients treated with IFA develop severe neurotoxicity (Thigpen, 1991; Goren et al., 1986) and urotoxicity (Skinner et al., 1993), which have both been associated with the formation of chloroacetaldehyde via *N*-dechloroethylation, an alternative P450-catalyzed metabolic pathway (Goren et al., 1986; Norpoth, 1976; Lind et al., 1990) (Fig. 1). In the case of IFA, this alternate pathway deactivates the drug through side chain oxidation yielding the inactive, monofunctional alkylating metabolites 2- and 3-dechloroethyl-IFA, and at the same time produces the neurotoxic byproduct chloroacetaldehyde (Kaijser et al., 1993). This later pathway may consume up to 50% of the therapeutic dose of IFA, whereas in the case of CPA it is generally a minor metabolic pathway, with only ~10% of the prodrug undergoing *N*dechloroethylation to yield chloroacetaldehyde.

In vitro studies with human liver microsomes demonstrate that CYP3A4 is a major catalyst of CPA and IFA *N*-dechloroethylation (Walker et al., 1994); however, CYP2B6 also mediates a substantial portion of this metabolic pathway, particularly in livers that are high in CYP2B6 content (Roy et al., 1999a; Huang et al., 2000a; Roy et al., 1999b). Cell culture experiments (Bruggemann et al., 1997) and in vivo studies (Borner et al., 2000) suggest that the chloroacetaldehyde released upon *N*-dechloroethylation of IFA may actually contribute to therapeutic activity. The cytotoxicities of 4-OH-IFA and chloroacetaldehyde may be additive, a finding that may help explain the lack of cross-resistance between IFA and CPA and the observed differences in response of some tumors towards these isomeric prodrugs (Brade et al., 1986; Bramwell et al., 1987).

Drug metabolism in the liver leads to the systemic formation and distribution of high levels of alkylating metabolites in patients treated with CPA and IFA. This may lead to serious side effects, including cardiotoxicity, bone marrow suppression, nephrotoxicity and neurotoxicity. Another limitation of oxazaphosphorine therapy is the inherent inability of phosphoramide mustard, the key therapeutically active cytotoxic metabolite, to cross cell membranes. Given the short intrinsic half-life of 4-



Fig. 1. P450 catalyzed metabolic pathways of CPA and IFA.



Fig. 2. Proposed therapeutic benefit from P450-based GDEPT compared to conventional chemotherapy. RED, P450 reductase.

hydroxy-cyclophosphamide in plasma ($t_{1/2} = 5.2$ min) (Hong et al., 1991), a major fraction of the 4-hydroxy metabolite formed in the liver is likely to decompose in the bloodstream to phosphoramide mustard, which does not enter tumor cells efficiently. P450 GDEPT aims to overcome these limitations by targeting prodrug-activating P450 genes to tumor cells, with the goal of inducing localized, intratumoral prodrug activation (Fig. 2).

3. Tumor cell death and the bystander effect

In practice, only a small fraction of the target tumor cell population is transduced in a typical in vivo gene transfer study. A strong bystander cytotoxic effect is therefore required if meaningful tumor regression and durable clinical responses are to be achieved. In the case of GDEPT using the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-TK) gene and the prodrug ganciclovir, the active drug metabolite is a phosphorylated nucleoside analog, which does not readily cross cell membranes. Consequently, the bystander effect is rather limited, and is dependent on direct, gap junction-mediated contact between the HSV-TK-expressing donor cell and the bystander (recipient) tumor cell (Nicholas et al., 2003). By contrast, in the case of P450 GDEPT using CPA and IFA, there is a strong bystander effect mediated by cell permeable, cytotoxic 4hydroxy metabolites generated by the P450-expressing tumor cells (Chen and Waxman, 1995a). This enables the active metabolites of CPA and IFA to diffuse within a tumor cell mass and to alkylate both dividing and quiescent cancer cells.

IFA and CPA exhibit unique cytotoxic activities. 4-OH-IFA displays several-fold lower intrinsic cytotoxicity than 4-OH-CPA in many tumor cell lines (Jounaidi et al., 1998; Jounaidi and Waxman, 2004). This may be related to the distinct nature of the DNA cross-links induced by each drug: seven atom cross-links are formed by IFA vs. five atom cross-links by CPA. Another difference may relate to the mechanism of cell death triggered by each drug. 4-OH-CPA induces apoptosis (Schwartz and Waxman, 2001), whereas 4-OH-IFA is reported to induce necrosis (Karle et al., 2001) or apoptosis (Schwartz and Waxman, 2001). These responses are likely to affect not only the inherent cytotoxicity of each drug, but also the bystander effect and anti-tumor immune responses. Tumor cell death via necrosis may trigger local inflammation and a rapid immune response, whereas apoptosis may induce the formation of membrane-enclosed apoptotic bodies that are phagocytosed by macrophages or bystander cells and are non-immunogenic. Apoptotic tumor cell death mediated by P450-activated CPA is modulated by the balance between the expression of apoptotic and anti-apoptotic factors, such as Bcl-2, which may be an important determinant of tumor responsiveness both in conventional therapy and in P450-mediated GDEPT using CPA (Schwartz and Waxman, 2001).

As noted above, the bystander effect of P450-activated CPA and IFA does not involve the mustard metabolites, which do not readily diffuse across cell membranes, but is mediated by other metabolites, such as 4-OH-CPA and 4-OH-IFA, aldophosphamide, and perhaps the cytotoxic byproducts chloroacetaldehyde and acrolein. Diffusion of these reactive metabolites from their site of formation within tumor cells may, however, be seriously limited by the expression of enzymes and other factors that inactivate these metabolites and confer drug resistance, including certain aldehyde dehydrogenases (Sladek, 1999), glutathione S-transferases and glutathione (Chen and Waxman, 1995b), which may metabolize and thereby inactivate these cytotoxic metabolites. Oxazaphosphorine resistance may be minimized by treatment with small molecule inhibitors of aldehyde dehydrogenases (Sladek, 1999; Quash et al., 2002) or by targeting aldehyde dehydrogenase using antisense sequences (Moreb et al., 2000). If this inhibition can be achieved in a tumor cell-selective manner in vivo, the effective exposure of tumor cells to cytotoxic metabolites would be increased and a stronger bystander effect would be obtained. Tumor cell death induced by P450-activated CPA is a relatively slow process, one that requires 2-3 days to fully manifest (Schwartz and Waxman, 2001). During this time the production of bystander cytotoxic metabolites continues, albeit at a reduced rate as the cells enter apoptosis (Schwartz et al., 2003).

4. Strategies to improve P450 GDEPT

Several strategies have been investigated to improve the effectiveness of P450 GDEPT. In one approach, NADPH-P450 reductase is co-expressed with the P450 gene to augment P450 metabolic activity. In a second approach, the balance of prodrug activation is shifted from the liver to the tumor, in an effort to increase in situ prodrug activation and thereby increase tumor cell killing, while at the same time decreasing hepatic production and systemic release of host cell toxic metabolites. Finally, in a third approach,

an anti-apoptotic factor that delays, but does not block tumor cell apoptosis can be introduced together with the therapeutic P450 gene in order to increase the production of bystander cytotoxic metabolites.

4.1. NADPH-P450 reductase as an adjuvant for P450 gene therapy

All microsomal P450 monooxygenase reactions require two distinct enzyme components, the flavoprotein NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase (P450 reductase) and the heme-containing cytochrome P450. P450 reductase, a FAD- and FMN-containing flavoenzyme, catalyzes the transfer of two electrons from NADPH to the P450 hemoprotein, and is a rate-limiting component of the overall monooxygenase reaction. Initial studies using P450-based GDEPT were based on the premise that P450 reductase gene transfer is unnecessary, since P450 reductase is ubiquitous in nearly all mammalian cell types including a broad range of human tumor cells (Yu et al., 2001). Subsequent studies revealed, however, that the overexpression of P450 reductase leads to a substantial increase in P450-dependent chemosensitivity to CPA, both in vitro and in vivo (Chen et al., 1997). In rat 9L gliosarcoma cells transduced with cDNA encoding rat CYP2B1 (Chen et al., 1997) or human CYP2B6 (Jounaidi et al., 1998), P450 metabolic activity and the associated cytotoxicity are substantially increased with P450 reductase co-expression. P450 reductase increases the production and release of activated CPA metabolites, leading to a stronger bystander effect. This was exemplified in a tumor excision study utilizing 9L gliosarcoma cells, where a 50-100-fold overall increase in tumor cell kill was observed by co-expression of P450 with P450 reductase (Chen et al., 1997). The effectiveness of P450 reductase co-expression appears to be strongest when the cDNA for P450 reductase is expressed together with the P450 cDNA as a bicistronic mRNA linked by an IRES (internal ribosome entry signal) sequence (Jounaidi and Waxman, 2004). Thus, despite the ubiquitous expression of P450 reductase in tumor cells, P450-dependent prodrug activation and cytotoxicity can be increased by supplementation of P450 reductase, providing a simple way to increase the efficacy of P450 GDEPT. The P450 and P450 reductase DNA sequences may also be expressed as a single coding sequence that generates a P450-P450 reductase fusion protein (Tychopoulos et al., 2005).

4.2. Selective inhibition of liver P450-catalyzed prodrug activation

Efforts to suppress liver P450 metabolism in a selective manner by using anti-thyroid drugs, such as propylthiouracil (Ross et al., 1995) and methimazole (Waxman et al., 1989), have been described. These drugs inhibit hepatic P450 reductase transcription and thereby decrease hepatic P450 reductase protein and activity, which in turn suppresses overall P450 metabolic activity. In studies conducted in the rat model, methimazole treatment decreased the expression of hepatic P450 reductase by about 75% without affecting the level of P450 reductase expressed in 9L gliosarcomas. This led to an increase in CPA-induced tumor growth delay in 9L tumor xenografts expressing CYP2B1 and P450 reductase, consistent with there being an increase in the partitioning of CPA metabolism from the liver to the tumor (Huang et al., 2000b). An additional benefit of this approach is that the anti-thyroid drug methimazole moderates several of the systemic toxicities that accompany CPA treatment. Furthermore, methimazole exhibits some intrinsic anti-cancer activity, independent of CPA.

In an alternative approach to suppress hepatic but not tumor cell-associated P450 activity, 1-amino benzotriazole (ABT), a suicide substrate for multiple hepatic P450 enzymes, was examined for its ability to selectively suppress liver CPA 4-hydroxylation (Huang and Waxman, 2001). In rats given ABT in vivo, followed by CPA treatment, ABT induced a 4-fold decrease in C_{max} and a 7-fold increase in the apparent half-life of 4-hydroxy-CPA, consistent with there being substantial inhibition of hepatic CPA metabolism. However, the area-under-the-curve (AUC) for 4-OH-CPA was only reduced by \sim 50%, indicating that a substantial fraction of CPA is still metabolized by the 4hydroxylation pathway in the ABT-treated animals, albeit at a slower rate than in the absence of ABT. Moreover, no increase in CPA- and P450-dependent tumor growth delay was observed in a 9L/P450 2B1 gliosarcoma xenograft model, suggesting that ABT treatment in vivo did not increase the tumor/liver partition ratio for CPA metabolism (Huang and Waxman, 2001). Most likely, ABT does not have sufficient P450 form-selectivity to achieve the desired specificity of liver P450 inhibition in vivo. A more systematic investigation is needed to identify inhibitors that are truly selective and can be used to inhibit prodrug activation in the liver without inhibiting prodrug activation catalyzed by a tumor cell-expressed P450 transgene.

4.3. Use of anti-apoptotic factors to delay tumor cell death

4-Hydroxy-CPA induces tumor cell death by a mechanism that involves mitochondrial transition stimulated by drug-induced DNA damage followed by activation of the caspase 9-dependent apoptotic pathway (Schwartz and Waxman, 2001). This cell death pathway is blocked in tumor cells that over-express the mitochondrial anti-apoptotic factor Bcl-2, which inhibits the release of cytochrome C from mitochondria and thereby confers drug resistance to CPA-treated tumor cells. By contrast, when the caspase 9 pathway is blocked in P450-expressing tumor cells at a step that is down-stream of the critical step of mitochondrial transition/cytochrome C release, CPA-induced cell death is delayed but, ultimately, is not blocked (Schwartz et al., 2002). Caspase activation is, therefore, not required for CPA to induce tumor cell death. Although the use of pro-apoptotic factors, such as Bax, p53, and various caspases, to stimulate tumor cells to undergo apoptosis is presently being explored by many laboratories in gene therapies designed to enhance tumor cell death, this strategy is not suitable for GDEPT (Waxman and Schwartz, 2003). In the case of prodrug-activation gene therapy, such as P450 GDEPT, any acceleration of the apoptotic death of a tumor cell transduced with a prodrug-activating enzyme will decrease the net formation of active drug metabolites. This, in turn, will compromise the bystander effect that is critical to the success of the overall GDEPT strategy. Recent studies demonstrate, however, that anti-apoptotic factors can be combined with P450 GDEPT to prolong the longevity of the prodrug-activating tumor cells. In particular, retroviral expression of the pan-caspase inhibitor p35 was shown to substantially delay the death of P450-expressing tumor cells treated with CPA, thereby increasing bystander killing by the P450-activated prodrug. Moreover, the introduction of p35 delayed, but did not completely block, the ultimate death of the tumor cells (Schwartz et al., 2002). The inhibition of caspase-dependent apoptosis in tumor cells expressing p35 may trigger the tumor cells to undergo necrotic cell death in response to CPA treatment, instead of apoptotic death in response to CPA treatment, and this may potentially enhance systemic (immune system-based) bystander activity (Waxman and Schwartz, 2003).

5. Vectors for delivery of prodrug activating P450 genes

The vectors used for gene delivery are critical to the success of any gene therapy strategy. In the case of P450 and other prodrug activation genes, gene expression in the tumor must be high enough to generate an intratumoral level of activated metabolites that is sufficient to induce tumor cell death and efficient bystander tumor cell killing. Both viral and non-viral vectors have been investigated and have shown varying degrees of success in P450 GDEPT applications.

5.1. Replication-defective retroviruses

Replication-defective retroviruses are attractive for cancer gene therapy because of their intrinsic selectivity for dividing cell populations. CYP2B1 and CYP2B6 have been used in ecotropic retroviral vectors to transduce several rodent tumor cell lines (Wei et al., 1994; Jounaidi et al., 1998). Retroviral vectors carrying a P450 cDNA can be directly injected into solid tumor masses, leading to expression of CYP2B6 and a CPA-induced anti-tumor response (Kan et al., 2001). Retroviruses present several challenges that may limit their ultimate utility in P450 GDEPT applications in the clinic. These include: (1) the difficulty of obtaining high viral titers, which may translate into a low transduction efficiency and necessitate repeated treatments with retrovirus in vivo to achieve a sufficient level of transgene expression and efficacy; (2) the risk of retroviral integration into germ line cells, which may lead to oncogenesis

(Yi et al., 2005); and (3) the restriction of viral infection to replicating tumor cells. This latter problem may be addressed using lentiviral vectors for delivery of genes to both replicating and non-replicating tumor cells.

5.2. Replication-defective adenoviruses

The adenoviral E1A and E1B genes are required for viral replication, and deletion of these genes generates a replication-defective adenoviral vector. Distinct advantages of replication-defective adenoviruses for gene therapy include: (1) their ability to infect both rapidly dividing and quiescent tumor cells; (2) the viral DNA does not integrate into host chromosomal DNA, eliminating the risk of insertional mutagenesis associated with retroviruses; and (3) adenoviruses can be easily produced in large quantities and at high titers. A P450 transgene may be incorporated into the adenoviral genome under the control of a strong viral promoter, e.g., the cytomegalovirus promoter, to ensure strong expression in a wide range of tumor cells. Replication-defective adenovirus has been used to deliver P450 genes into a variety of human cell lines (Chen et al., 1996). A serious drawback, however, is that adenoviral particles are rapidly cleared from circulation and elicit a strong innate immunogenic response, which limits the opportunity for repeated virus administration (Muruve, 2004). Several strategies are being developed to overcome this difficulty, including advances in vector formulation (e.g., PEGylation to mask immunogenic viral epitopes), the use of alternate adenoviral serotypes, and the engineering of helper-dependent adenoviral vectors with deletions of highly immunogenic portions of the viral genome. Adenoviral vectors with genetically modified capsid proteins have also been developed to circumvent the requirement for the coxsackie-adenovirus receptor for viral entry, in view of the low levels of this receptor protein found on many tumor cells (Kanerva and Hemminki, 2004).

5.3. Conditionally replicating oncolytic viruses

Tumor cell-replicating viruses have been designed to facilitate selective gene delivery to malignant cells in vivo. These viruses typically have the ability to lyse the cells in which they replicate, providing an added therapeutic advantage, hence their designation as oncolytic viruses (Everts and van der Poel, 2005; Lin and Nemunaitis, 2004). Oncolytic viruses can be engineered in several ways. One approach involves the deletion of viral genes required for replication in normal cells but not tumor cells. A wellstudied example is the replicating adenovirus designated Onyx-015, which has a deletion of the adenoviral E1B-55kDa gene (Cohen and Rudin, 2001). Normally, the E1B-55kDa protein inactivates the tumor suppressor protein p53, which prevents adenovirus-infected cells from activating the p53-dependent apoptotic response that serves to limit viral replication. Consequently, when

normal host cells are infected with the Onyx-015 virus, the p53-dependent apoptotic response is activated and the host cell is killed prior to viral replication. As a result of this response, host tissues cannot support a sustained infection by Onyx-015. By contrast, tumor cells deficient in a functional p53 pathway do not undergo p53-dependent apoptosis and readily support Onyx-015 replication and viral spread (McCormick, 2003; Bischoff et al., 1996). Almost 90% of human tumors are deficient in p53, or in p53 function. As a result, Onyx-015, or the related Onyx-017 (E3-wild-type and E1B-55kDa-deleted) (Jounaidi and Waxman, 2004) can be used to deliver P450 genes to a broad range of human tumor cells. The P450 gene can be incorporated directly into the genome of the replicating adenovirus, or alternatively, it may be delivered via a second, replication-defective adenovirus that is injected together with the replicating virus. In this latter strategy, the replicating virus serves as a helper virus that co-amplifies and facilitates tumor cell spread of the replicationdefective P450 virus (Jounaidi and Waxman, 2004). Clinical trials using the oncolytic adenovirus Onyx-015 have demonstrated safety with no apparent dose-limiting toxicity. Superior anti-cancer activity is seen when this virus is combined with cisplatin-based chemotherapy in human tumor xenografts (Nemunaitis et al., 2001).

A second example of a conditionally replicating oncolytic virus is herpes simplex virus with a deletion of the viral ribonucleotide reductase gene. This latter gene is essential for viral replication in non-dividing cells. Insertion of the CYP2B1 cDNA in place of the ribonucleotide reductase gene generates a replicating oncolytic viral vector, designated rRp450 (Chase et al., 1998). This virus shows good preclinical P450 GDEPT activity when used in combination with CPA to treat gliomas, hepatocellular carcinomas and liver metastases (Aghi et al., 1999; Pawlik et al., 2000; Pawlik et al., 2002). Importantly, CPA treatment has minimal effect on the replication of this virus. This virus displays a high degree of tumor selectivity and enhanced therapeutic effectiveness (Pawlik et al., 2000).

Replication of a lytic virus in host tissues is likely to induce serious host toxicity and may potentially be lethal to the patient. Accordingly, it is essential to engineer appropriate safeguards into any replicating viral vector to prevent systemic infection. A good example is provided by the replicating herpes virus rRp450, which retains the endogenous herpes virus thymidine kinase gene, and consequently, replication of this virus can be strongly inhibited by the prodrug ganciclovir. Any host cell viral replication can therefore be blocked by treatment with ganciclovir once P450-dependent prodrug therapy is complete. Gene therapy using this virus can thus be carried out using a combination of two prodrugs, CPA and ganciclovir.

Another strategy that may be exploited for P450 GDEPT is to utilize tumor cell-specific DNA regulatory elements, such as promoter and enhancer sequences, to drive the expression of viral genes required for replication resulting in tumor-specific virus replication (Saukkonen

and Hemminki, 2004). This strategy has been implemented using the prostrate-specific antigen promoter to regulate the expression of adenoviral E1 genes in a manner that limits viral replication to the prostrate (Chen et al., 2001). Others have used alpha-fetoprotein gene regulatory sequences to achieve selective replication in hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Hallenbeck et al., 1999). These strategies do impart substantial tumor specificity but may not eliminate basal viral replication in non-target tissues.

6. Unique advantages of P450-based GDEPT

Discussed below are several advantages that P450 GDEPT has over other prodrug-activating systems.

6.1. Use of human P450 genes

P450-based GDEPT using the rat CYP2B1 gene has been shown to enhance the selectivity and the cytotoxicity of oxazaphosphorine prodrugs in a variety of rodent and human tumor models (Wei et al., 1994; Chen and Waxman, 1995a; Chen et al., 1997, 1996). Jounaidi et al. subsequently established the feasibility of using human P450 genes for GDEPT, including CYP2B6 and CYP3A4 (Jounaidi et al., 1998). The use of human P450 genes may limit the potential for host immune responses against a prodrug activating enzyme of foreign origin. Many other widely used GDEPT enzymes are of non-mammalian origin, including the viral HSV-TK system, cytosine deaminase from bacteria and fungi, and the bacterial enzymes carboxypeptidase G2 and nitroreductase (Kirn et al., 2002).

6.2. Compatibility with established and investigational anti-cancer prodrugs

P450-based GDEPT can be applied to a wide range of anti-cancer P450 prodrugs. P450 GDEPT was originally developed for use with the oxazaphosphorine prodrugs CPA and IFA, which are widely used in the clinic and have well established pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties (Fleming, 1997; Moore, 1991). Investigational P450 prodrugs, such as MMDX, a methoxymorpholinyl derivative of doxorubicin (Quintieri et al., 2000; Lu and Waxman, 2005) and the bioreductive prodrugs AQ4N (McErlane et al., 2005; McCarthy et al., 2003) and tirapazamine (Jounaidi and Waxman, 2000) are candidates for further development of P450-based GDEPT. Several other common anti-cancer drugs that are biotransformed by P450 enzymes to more active metabolites are also potential candidates for P450-based GDEPT (Chen and Waxman, 2002). These include thio-TEPA, which is activated by CYP2B-mediated oxidative desulfuration (Ng and Waxman, 1990); etoposide (VP-16), which is metabolized to a reactive catechol by P450-mediated O-demethylation reaction (van Maanen et al., 1987; Relling et al., 1992) and tamoxifen, which is converted by P4502D6 to 4-hydroxytamoxifen (Dehal and Kupfer, 1997), a far more potent anti-estrogen than the parent drug (Borgna and Rochefort, 1981).

7. Prodrug delivery

Localized prodrug delivery may potentially be used to increase the tumor specificity of P450 GDEPT while minimizing host toxicity. In one study, localized prodrug delivery was achieved using a CPA-loaded controlled release polymer implanted in a solid subcutaneous tumor mass. A 250-fold increase in the intratumoral level of 4-hydroxy-CPA was achieved compared to intraperitoneal CPA administration (Ichikawa et al., 2001), with a corresponding increase in anti-tumor effect. In another study, the schedule of CPA administration was shown to be a critical determinant of the therapeutic effectiveness of P450 GDEPT. Administration of CPA on a 6-day repeating 'metronomic' schedule has been shown to induce a strong anti-angiogenic response (Browder et al., 2000). Application of this CPA treatment schedule to tumors expressing CYP2B6 and P450 reductase induced extensive regression leading to eradication of both small and large tumors with minimal host toxicity (Jounaidi and Waxman, 2001). Tumor regression, but not tumor eradication, was seen when the same CPA treatment schedule was applied to tumors deficient in P450.

8. Clinical trials of P450-based GDEPT

Several initial clinical trials utilizing the P450-based GDEPT strategy have been reported. In a phase I/II clinical trial conducted in Germany, 14 patients with inoperable pancreatic carcinoma were administered cellulose sulfate capsules containing cells that were engineered to express CYP2B1, followed by IFA treatment. The polymer encapsulated cells were introduced directly into the vasculature leading to the tumor, in an effort to achieve a high localized concentration of the IFA-activating P450 enzyme (Lohr et al., 2001, 2003). The treatment protocol was well tolerated and good indications of efficacy were obtained: of the 14 patients undergoing treatment, 2 showed partial remission and 11 had stable disease, i.e., no further tumor growth. Moreover, a three-fold increase in one year survival compared to historic controls was reported. The data obtained in this small phase I/II clinical trial are promising and indicate that further clinical trials involving larger number of patients are warranted.

A separate clinical trial, sponsored by Oxford BioMedica in the UK, used an engineered retroviral gene delivery vector encoding CYP2B6, designated MetXia (Kan et al., 2001). Results from an initial Phase I/II trial of MetXia in patients with advanced breast cancer or melanoma indicated that the product was safe and gene delivery was readily detected in the treated tumors (Hunt, 2001). In addition, a clinical benefit associated with an apparent anti-tumor immune response was seen in a subset of the treated patients (Kan et al., 2002; Braybrooke et al., 2005). If the systemic anti-tumor immune responses seen in these studies are confirmed, vectors such as MetXia may potentially be useful for the treatment of a wide range of solid tumors, potentially including disseminated metastatic disease. A follow-up Phase I/II trial in patients with breast cancer, melanoma and urethral cell carcinoma has been carried out, with the results confirming the safety and anti-tumor immune activity seen in the initial trial, thus establishing proof-of-concept for this approach.

9. Future work

P450-based GDEPT has emerged as a promising genebased prodrug activation therapy for cancer treatment. This therapy can readily be tested in the clinic in combination with established chemotherapeutic prodrugs and may lead to improved therapeutic responses. Preclinical studies, both in vitro and in vivo, have demonstrated the potential of this strategy, and recent clinical trials strongly support its clinical utility as an adjuvant for conventional chemotherapy. Moving forward, the effectiveness of P450 GDEPT may be further increased using improved vectors for P450 gene delivery and disease-targeted promoters for focused gene expression at the target site. In addition, there is the potential to engineer site-specifically modified P450 enzymes showing improved enzyme kinetics with prodrug substrates (Chen et al., 2004). Novel P450 prodrug substrates may also be developed. Combination treatments based on a P450-based therapy together with radiation, anti-angiogenic therapies, cytokine therapy or other GDEPT strategies may also be envisioned and hold promise for future research and development.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Nayra Gad and Mary Penwarden for providing excellent assistance during the preparation of this manuscript.

Supported in part by grant CA49248 from the N.I.H. (to D.J.W.)

References

- Aghi, M., Chou, T.C., Suling, K., Breakefield, X.O., Chiocca, E.A., 1999. Multimodal cancer treatment mediated by a replicating oncolytic virus that delivers the oxazaphosphorine/rat cytochrome P450 2B1 and ganciclovir/herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene therapies. Cancer Res. 59, 3861–3865.
- Aghi, M., Hochberg, F., Breakefield, X.O., 2000. Prodrug activation enzymes in cancer gene therapy. J. Gene. Med. 2, 148–164.
- Ayash, L.J., Wright, J.E., Tretyakov, O., Gonin, R., Elias, A., Wheeler, C., Eder, J.P., Rosowsky, A., Antman, K., Frei, E.d., 1992. Cyclophosphamide pharmacokinetics: correlation with cardiac toxicity and tumor response. J. Clin. Oncol. 10, 995–1000.
- Bischoff, J.R., Kirn, D.H., Williams, A., Heise, C., Horn, S., Muna, M., Ng, L., Nye, J.A., Sampson-Johannes, A., Fattaey, A., McCormick, F., 1996. An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53deficient human tumor cells. Science 274, 373–376.

- Borgna, J.L., Rochefort, H., 1981. Hydroxylated metabolites of tamoxifen are formed in vivo and bound to estrogen receptor in target tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 859–868.
- Borner, K., Kisro, J., Bruggemann, S.K., Hagenah, W., Peters, S.O., Wagner, T., 2000. Metabolism of ifosfamide to chloroacetaldehyde contributes to antitumor activity in vivo. Drug Metab. Dispos. 28, 573–576.
- Brade, W., Seeber, S., Herdrich, K., 1986. Comparative activity of ifosfamide and cyclophosphamide. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 18, S1–S9.
- Bramwell, V.H., Mouridsen, H.T., Santoro, A., Blackledge, G., Somers, R., Verwey, J., Dombernowsky, P., Onsrud, M., Thomas, D., Sylvester, R., et al., 1987. Cyclophosphamide versus ifosfamide: final report of a randomized phase II trial in adult soft tissue sarcomas. Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 23, 311–321.
- Braybrooke, J.P., Slade, A., Deplanque, G., Harrop, R., Madhusudan, S., Forster, M.D., Gibson, R., Makris, A., Talbot, D.C., Steiner, J., White, L., Kan, O., Naylor, S., Carroll, M.W., Kingsman, S.M., Harris, A.L., 2005. Phase I study of MetXia-P450 gene therapy and oral cyclophosphamide for patients with advanced breast cancer or melanoma. Clin. Cancer Res. 11, 1512–1520.
- Browder, T., Butterfield, C.E., Kraling, B.M., Shi, B., Marshall, B., O'Reilly, M.S., Folkman, J., 2000. Antiangiogenic scheduling of chemotherapy improves efficacy against experimental drug-resistant cancer. Cancer Res. 60, 1878–1886.
- Bruggemann, S.K., Kisro, J., Wagner, T., 1997. Ifosfamide cytotoxicity on human tumor and renal cells: role of chloroacetaldehyde in comparison to 4-hydroxyifosfamide. Cancer Res. 57, 2676–2680.
- Bunting, K.D., Townsend, A.J., 1996a. De novo expression of transfected human class 1 aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) causes resistance to oxazaphosphorine anti-cancer alkylating agents in hamster V79 cell lines. Elevated class 1 ALDH activity is closely correlated with reduction in DNA interstrand cross-linking and lethality. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 11884–11890.
- Bunting, K.D., Townsend, A.J., 1996b. Protection by transfected rat or human class 3 aldehyde dehydrogenase against the cytotoxic effects of oxazaphosphorine alkylating agents in hamster V79 cell lines. Demonstration of aldophosphamide metabolism by the human cytosolic class 3 isozyme. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 11891–11896.
- Chang, T.K.H., Weber, G.F., Crespi, C.L., Waxman, D.J., 1993. Differential activation of cyclophosphamide and ifosphamide by cytochromes P450 2B and 3A in human liver microsomes. Cancer Res. 53, 5629–5637.
- Chang, T.K., Yu, L., Goldstein, J.A., Waxman, D.J., 1997. Identification of the polymorphically expressed CYP2C19 and the wild-type CYP2C9-ILE359 allele as low- K_m catalysts of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide activation. Pharmacogenetics 7, 211–221.
- Chase, M., Chung, R.Y., Chiocca, E.A., 1998. An oncolytic viral mutant that delivers the CYP2B1 transgene and augments cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. Nature Biotechnol. 16, 444–448.
- Chen, L., Waxman, D.J., 1995a. Intratumoral activation and enhanced chemotherapeutic effect of oxazaphosphorines following cytochrome P450 gene transfer: development of a combined chemotherapy/cancer gene therapy strategy. Cancer Res. 55, 581–589.
- Chen, G., Waxman, D.J., 1995b. Identification of glutathione S-transferase as a determinant of 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide resistance in human breast cancer cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 49, 1691–1701.
- Chen, L., Waxman, D.J., 2002. Cytochrome P450 gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (GDEPT) for cancer. Curr. Pharm. Des. 8, 1405–1416.
- Chen, L., Waxman, D.J., Chen, D., Kufe, D.W., 1996. Sensitization of human breast cancer cells to cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide by transfer of a liver cytochrome P450 gene. Cancer Res. 56, 1331– 1340.
- Chen, L., Yu, L.J., Waxman, D.J., 1997. Potentiation of cytochrome P450/cyclophosphamide-based cancer gene therapy by coexpression of the P450 reductase gene. Cancer Res. 57, 4830–4837.

- Chen, Y., DeWeese, T., Dilley, J., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Ramesh, N., Lee, J., Pennathur-Das, R., Radzyminski, J., Wypych, J., Brignetti, D., Scott, S., Stephens, J., Karpf, D.B., Henderson, D.R., Yu, D.C., 2001. CV706, a prostate cancer-specific adenovirus variant, in combination with radiotherapy produces synergistic antitumor efficacy without increasing toxicity. Cancer Res. 61, 5453–5460.
- Chen, C.S., Lin, J.T., Goss, K.A., He, Y.A., Halpert, J.R., Waxman, D.J., 2004. Activation of the Anticancer Prodrugs Cyclophosphamide and Ifosfamide: Identification of Cytochrome P450 2B Enzymes and Site-Specific Mutants with Improved Enzyme Kinetics. Mol. Pharmacol. 65, 1278–1285.
- Chiocca, E.A., Waxman, D.J., 2004. Cytochrome p450-based gene therapies for cancer. Methods Mol. Med. 90, 203–222.
- Clarke, L., Waxman, D.J., 1989. Oxidative metabolism of cyclophosphamide: identification of the hepatic monooxygenase catalysts of drug activation. Cancer Res. 49, 2344–2350.
- Cohen, E.E., Rudin, C.M., 2001. ONYX-015. Onyx Pharmaceuticals. Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs 2, 1770–1775.
- Dachs, G.U., Tupper, J., Tozer, G.M., 2005. From bench to bedside for gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy of cancer. Anticancer Drugs 16, 349–359.
- Dehal, S.S., Kupfer, D., 1997. CYP2D6 catalyzes tamoxifen 4-hydroxylation in human liver. Cancer Res. 57, 3402–3406.
- Denny, W.A., 2003. Prodrugs for Gene-Directed Enzyme-Prodrug Therapy (Suicide Gene Therapy). J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2003, 48–70.
- Everts, B., van der Poel, H.G., 2005. Replication-selective oncolytic viruses in the treatment of cancer. Cancer Gene. Ther. 12, 141– 161.
- Fleming, R.A., 1997. An overview of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide pharmacology. Pharmacotherapy 17, 146S–154S.
- Goldin, A., 1982. Ifosphamide in experimental tumor systems. Sem. Oncol. 9, 14–23.
- Goren, M.P., Wright, R.K., Pratt, C.B., Pell, F.E., 1986. Dechloroethylation of ifosfamide and neurotoxicity. Lancet 2, 1219–1220.
- Hallenbeck, P.L., Chang, Y.N., Hay, C., Golightly, D., Stewart, D., Lin, J., Phipps, S., Chiang, Y.L., 1999. A novel tumor-specific replicationrestricted adenoviral vector for gene therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hum. Gene. Ther. 10, 1721–1733.
- Hong, P.S., Srigritsanapol, A., Chan, K.K., 1991. Pharmacokinetics of 4hydroxycyclophosphamide and metabolites in the rat. Drug Metab. Dispos. 19, 1–7.
- Huang, Z., Waxman, D.J., 2001. Modulation of cyclophosphamide-based cytochrome P450 gene therapy using liver P450 inhibitors. Cancer Gene. Ther. 8, 450–458.
- Huang, Z., Roy, P., Waxman, D.J., 2000a. Role of human liver microsomal CYP3A4 and CYP2B6 in catalyzing *N*-dechloroethylation of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide. Biochem. Pharmacol. 59, 961– 972.
- Huang, Z., Raychowdhury, M.K., Waxman, D.J., 2000b. Impact of liver P450 reductase suppression on cyclophosphamide activation, pharmacokinetics and antitumoral activity in a cytochrome P450-based cancer gene therapy model. Cancer Gene. Ther. 7, 1034–1042.
- Hunt, S., 2001. Technology evaluation: MetXia-P450, Oxford Biomedica. Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther. 3, 595–598.
- Ichikawa, T., Petros, W.P., Ludeman, S.M., Fangmeier, J., Hochberg, F.H., Colvin, O.M., Chiocca, E.A., 2001. Intraneoplastic polymerbased delivery of cyclophosphamide for intratumoral bioconversion by a replicating oncolytic viral vector. Cancer Res. 61, 864–868.
- Jounaidi, Y., 2002. Cytochrome P450-based gene therapy for cancer treatment: from concept to the clinic. Curr. Drug Metab. 3, 609–622.
- Jounaidi, Y., Waxman, D.J., 2001. Frequent, moderate-dose cyclophosphamide administration improves the efficacy of cytochrome P-450/ cytochrome P-450 reductase-based cancer gene therapy. Cancer Res. 61, 4437–4444.
- Jounaidi, Y., Waxman, D.J., 2000. Combination of the bioreductive drug tirapazamine with the chemotherapeutic prodrug cyclophosphamide

for P450/P450-reductase-based cancer gene therapy. Cancer Res. 60, 3761–3769.

- Jounaidi, Y., Waxman, D.J., 2004. Use of Replication-Conditional Adenovirus as a Helper System to Enhance Delivery of P450 Prodrug-Activation Genes for Cancer Therapy. Cancer Res. 64, 292– 303.
- Jounaidi, Y., Hecht, J.E.D., Waxman, D.J., 1998. Retroviral transfer of human cytochrome P450 genes for oxazaphosphorine-based cancer gene therapy. Cancer Res. 58, 4391–4401.
- Kaijser, G.P., Beijnen, J.H., Jeunink, E.L., Bult, A., Keizer, H.J., de Kraker, J., Underberg, W.J., 1993. Determination of chloroacetaldehyde, a metabolite of oxazaphosphorine cytostatic drugs, in plasma. J. Chromatogr. 614, 253–259.
- Kan, O., Griffiths, L., Baban, D., Iqball, S., Uden, M., Spearman, H., Slingsby, J., Price, T., Esapa, M., Kingsman, S., Kingsman, A., Slade, A., Naylor, S., 2001. Direct retroviral delivery of human cytochrome P450 2B6 for gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy of cancer. Cancer Gene. Ther. 8, 473–482.
- Kan, O., Kingsman, S., Naylor, S., 2002. Cytochrome P450-based cancer gene therapy: current status. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 2, 857– 868.
- Kanerva, A., Hemminki, A., 2004. Modified adenoviruses for cancer gene therapy. Int. J. Cancer 110, 475–480.
- Karle, P., Renner, M., Salmons, B., Gunzburg, W.H., 2001. Necrotic, rather than apoptotic, cell death caused by cytochrome P450-activated ifosfamide. Cancer Gene. Ther. 8, 220–230.
- Kirn, D., Niculescu-Duvaz, I., Hallden, G., Springer, C.J., 2002. The emerging fields of suicide gene therapy and virotherapy. Trends in Molec. Medicine 8.
- Lin, E., Nemunaitis, J., 2004. Oncolytic viral therapies. Cancer Gene. Ther. 11, 643–664.
- Lind, M.J., Roberts, H.L., Thatcher, N., Idle, J.R., 1990. The effect of route of administration and fractionation of dose on the metabolism of ifosfamide. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 26, 105–111.
- Lohr, M., Hoffmeyer, A., Kroger, J., Freund, M., Hain, J., Holle, A., Karle, P., Knofel, W.T., Liebe, S., Muller, P., Nizze, H., Renner, M., Saller, R.M., Wagner, T., Hauenstein, K., Gunzburg, W.H., Salmons, B., 2001. Microencapsulated cell-mediated treatment of inoperable pancreatic carcinoma. Lancet 357, 1591–1592.
- Lohr, M., Kroger, J.C., Hoffmeyer, A., Freund, M., Hain, J., Holle, A., Knofel, W.T., Liebe, S., Nizze, H., Renner, M., Saller, R., Muller, P., Wagner, T., Hauenstein, K., Salmons, B., Gunzburg, W.H., 2003. Safety, feasibility and clinical benefit of localized chemotherapy using microencapsulated cells for inoperable pancreatic carcinoma in a phase I/II trial. Cancer Ther. 1, 121–131.
- Lu, H., Waxman, D.J., 2005. Antitumor activity of methoxymorpholinyl doxorubicin: potentiation by cytochrome P450 3A metabolism. Mol. Pharmacol. 67, 212–219.
- McCarthy, H.O., Yakkundi, A., McErlane, V., Hughes, C.M., Keilty, G., Murray, M., Patterson, L.H., Hirst, D.G., McKeown, S.R., Robson, T., 2003. Bioreductive GDEPT using cytochrome P450 3A4 in combination with AQ4N. Cancer Gene. Ther. 10, 40–48.
- McCormick, F., 2001. Cancer gene therapy: fringe or cutting edge? Nat. Rev. Cancer 1, 130–141.
- McCormick, F., 2003. Cancer-specific viruses and the development of ONYX-015. Cancer Biol. Ther. 2, S157–S160.
- McErlane, V., Yakkundi, A., McCarthy, H.O., Hughes, C.M., Patterson, L.H., Hirst, D.G., Robson, T., McKeown, S.R., 2005. A cytochrome P450 2B6 meditated gene therapy strategy to enhance the effects of radiation or cyclophosphamide when combined with the bioreductive drug AQ4N. J. Gene. Med.
- Moore, M.J., 1991. Clinical pharmacokinetics of cyclophosphamide. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 20, 194–208.
- Moreb, J.S., Maccow, C., Schweder, M., Hecomovich, J., 2000. Expression of antisense RNA to aldehyde dehydrogenase class-1 sensitizes tumor cells to 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide in vitro. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 293, 390–396.

- Muruve, D.A., 2004. The innate immune response to adenovirus vectors. Hum. Gene. Ther. 15, 1157–1166.
- Nemunaitis, J., Cunningham, C., Buchanan, A., Blackburn, A., Edelman, G., Maples, P., Netto, G., Tong, A., Randlev, B., Olson, S., Kirn, D., 2001. Intravenous infusion of a replication-selective adenovirus (ONYX-015) in cancer patients: safety, feasibility and biological activity. Gene. Ther. 8, 746–759.
- Ng, S.F., Waxman, D.J., 1990. Biotransformation of *N*,*N'*,*N"*-triethylenethiophosphoramide: oxidative desulfuration to yield *N*,*N'*,*N"*triethylenephosphoramide associated with suicide inactivation of a phenobarbital-inducible hepatic P-450 monooxygenase. Cancer Res. 50, 464–471.
- Nicholas, T.W., Read, S.B., Burrows, F.J., Kruse, C.A., 2003. Suicide gene therapy with Herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase and ganciclovir is enhanced with connexins to improve gap junctions and bystander effects. Histol. Histopathol. 18, 495–507.
- Norpoth, K., 1976. Studies on the metabolism of isophosphamide (NSC-109724) in man. CTR 60, 437–443.
- Pawlik, T.M., Nakamura, H., Yoon, S.S., Mullen, J.T., Chandrasekhar, S., Chiocca, E.A., Tanabe, K.K., 2000. Oncolysis of diffuse hepatocellular carcinoma by intravascular administration of a replicationcompetent, genetically engineered herpesvirus. Cancer Res. 60, 2790– 2795.
- Pawlik, T.M., Nakamura, H., Mullen, J.T., Kasuya, H., Yoon, S.S., Chandrasekhar, S., Chiocca, E.A., Tanabe, K.K., 2002. Prodrug bioactivation and oncolysis of diffuse liver metastases by a herpes simplex virus 1 mutant that expresses the CYP2B1 transgene. Cancer 95, 1171–1181.
- Peters, W.P., Ross, M., Vredenburgh, J.J., Meisenberg, B., Marks, L.B., Winer, E., Kurtzberg, J., Bast Jr., R.C., Jones, R., Shpall, E., 1993. High-dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow support as consolidation after standard-dose adjuvant therapy for high-risk primary breast cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 11, 1132–1143.
- Quash, G., Fournet, G., Chantepie, J., Gore, J., Ardiet, C., Ardail, D., Michal, Y., Reichert, U., 2002. Novel competitive irreversible inhibitors of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH1): restoration of chemosensitivity of L1210 cells overexpressing ALDH1 and induction of apoptosis in BAF(3) cells overexpressing bcl(2). Biochem. Pharmacol. 64, 1279–1292.
- Quintieri, L., Rosato, A., Napoli, E., Sola, F., Geroni, C., Floreani, M., Zanovello, P., 2000. In vivo antitumor activity and host toxicity of methoxymorpholinyl doxorubicin: role of cytochrome P450 3A. Cancer Res. 60, 3232–3238.
- Relling, M.V., Evans, R., Dass, C., Desiderio, D.M., Nemec, J., 1992. Human cytochrome P450 metabolism of teniposide and etoposide. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 261, 491–496.
- Ren, S., Yang, J.S., Kalhorn, T.F., Slattery, J.T., 1997. Oxidation of cyclophosphamide to 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide and deschloroethylcyclophosphamide in human liver microsomes. Cancer Res. 57, 4229–4235.
- Rooseboom, M., Commandeur, J.N., Vermeulen, N.P., 2004. Enzymecatalyzed activation of anticancer prodrugs. Pharmacol. Rev. 56, 53– 102.
- Ross, A.D., Varghese, G., Oporto, B., Carmichael, F.J., Israel, Y., 1995. Effect of propylthiouracil treatment on NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase levels, oxygen consumption and hydroxyl radical formation in liver microsomes from rats fed ethanol or acetone chronically. Biochem. Pharmacol. 49, 979–989.
- Roy, P., Yu, L.J., Crespi, C.L., Waxman, D.J., 1999a. Development of a substrate-activity based approach to identify the major human liver P450 catalysts of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide activation based on cDNA-expressed activities and liver microsomal P450 profiles. Drug Metab. Dispos. 27, 655–666.
- Roy, P., Tretyakov, O., Wright, J., Waxman, D.J., 1999b. Stereoselective metabolism of ifosfamide by human P450s 3A4 and 2B6. Favorable metabolic properties of R-enantiomer. Drug Metab. Dispos. 27, 1309– 1318.

- Saukkonen, K., Hemminki, A., 2004. Tissue-specific promoters for cancer gene therapy. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 4, 683–696.
- Schwartz, P.S., Waxman, D.J., 2001. Cyclophosphamide induces caspase 9-dependent apoptosis in 9L tumor cells. Mol. Pharmacol. 60, 1268– 1279.
- Schwartz, P.S., Chen, C.S., Waxman, D.J., 2002. Enhanced bystander cytotoxicity of P450 gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy by expression of the antiapoptotic factor p35. Cancer Res. 62, 6928–6937.
- Schwartz, P.A., Chen, C.S., Waxman, D.J., 2003. Sustained P450 expression and prodrug activation in bolus cyclophosphamide-treated cultured tumor cells. Impact of prodrug schedule on P450 genedirected enzyme prodrug therapy. Cancer. Gene. Therapy 10, 571–582.
- Skinner, R., Sharkey, I.M., Pearson, A.D.J., Craft, A.W., 1993. Ifosfamide, mesna, and nephrotoxicity in children. J. Clin. Oncol. 11, 173–190.
- Sladek, N.E., 1988. Metabolism of oxazaphosphorines. Pharmacol. Ther. 37, 301–355.
- Sladek, N.E., 1999. Aldehyde dehydrogenase-mediated cellular relative insensitivity to the oxazaphosphorines. Curr. Pharm. Des. 5, 607–625.
- Thigpen, T., 1991. Ifosphamide-induced central nervous system toxicity. Gynecol. Oncol. 42, 191–192.
- Tychopoulos, M., Corcos, L., Genne, P., Beaune, P., de Waziers, I., 2005. A virus-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (VDEPT) strategy for lung cancer using a CYP2B6/NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase fusion protein. Cancer. Gene. Ther. 12, 497–508.
- van Maanen, J.M., de Vries, J., Pappie, D., van den Akker, E., Lafleur, V.M., Retel, J., van der Greef, J., Pinedo, H.M., 1987. Cytochrome P-450-mediated O-demethylation: a route in the metabolic activation of etoposide (VP-16-213). Cancer Res. 47, 4658–4662.

- Walker, D., Flinois, J.P., Monkman, S.C., Beloc, C., Boddy, A.V., Cholerton, S., Daly, A.K., Lind, M.J., Pearson, A.D.J., Beaune, P.H., Idle, J.R., 1994. Identification of the major human hepatic cytochrome P450 involved in activation and *N*-dechloroethylation of ifosfamide. Biochem. Pharmacol. 47, 1157–1163.
- Waxman, D.J., Schwartz, P.S., 2003. Harnessing apoptosis for improved anti-cancer gene therapy. Cancer. Res. 63, 8563–8572.
- Waxman, D.J., Morrissey, J.J., LeBlanc, G.A., 1989. Hypophysectomy differentially alters P-450 protein levels and enzyme activities in rat liver: pituitary control of hepatic NADPH cytochrome P-450 reductase. Mol. Pharmacol. 35, 519–525.
- Waxman, D.J., Chen, L., Hecht, J.E.D., Jounaidi, Y., 1999. Cytochrome P450-based cancer gene therapy: recent advances and future prospects. Drug Metab. Rev. 31, 503–522.
- Weber, G.F., Waxman, D.J., 1993. Activation of the anti-cancer drug ifosphamide by rat liver microsomal P450 enzymes. Biochem. Pharmacol. 45, 1685–1694.
- Wei, M.X., Tamiya, T., Chase, M., Boviatsis, E.J., Chang, T.K.H., Kowall, N.W., Hochberg, F.H., Waxman, D.J., Breakefield, X.O., Chiocca, E.A., 1994. Experimental tumor therapy in mice using the cyclophosphamide-activating cytochrome P450 2B1 gene. Hum. Gene. Ther. 5, 969–978.
- Yi, Y., Hahm, S.H., Lee, K.H., 2005. Retroviral gene therapy: safety issues and possible solutions. Curr. Gene. Ther. 5, 25–35.
- Yu, L.J., Matias, J., Scudiero, D.A., Hite, K.M., Monks, A., Sausville, E.A., Waxman, D.J., 2001. P450 enzyme expression patterns in the NCI human tumor cell line panel. Drug Metab. Dispos. 29, 304– 312.